

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 1 - CONVENING THE BOARD

The Board shall meet at the date, time, and location as set forth in the following chart:

<u>Date</u>	<u>Location</u>	<u>Time</u>	<u>Voting/Work Session</u>
First Monday of the Month	County Courthouse	7:00 PM	Voting
Second Monday of the Month	Location TBA by Commission Chairman	12:00 PM	Work Session
Third Monday of the Month	County Courthouse	10:00 AM	Voting
Fourth Monday of the Month	County Courthouse	7:00 PM	Work Session

If any prescribed meeting date should fall on a legal holiday or if an emergency should arise, the Board shall meet the following day at the prescribed time. Notification of the members for regular meetings shall be left to the discretion of the Chairperson and Clerk (County Clerk).

RULE 2 - QUORUM

A quorum for the transaction of business shall be a majority of the duly qualified and acting members of the Board of County Commissioners. Vacancies shall not be included in determining the membership of the Board. One issue which comes up occasionally concerns the number of county commission members needed to pass a particular measure. A majority of the members of the county legislative body constitutes a quorum, that is, a sufficient number to hold a meeting. (T.C.A. 5-5-108). However, T.C.A. § 5-5-109 states that a "majority of the members constituting the county legislative body, and not merely a majority of the quorum" is, in general, required to transact business. And, even though a majority vote is normally needed, certain statutes require a two-thirds vote before a specific action can be taken. Again, this language refers to the percentage of the entire membership, not merely of those present, although vacancies in office should not be counted when figuring either a two-thirds or a majority. The following chart illustrates these principles:

Number of Members:	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25
Majority:	5	6	6	7	7	8	8	9	9	10	10	11	11	12	12	13	13
Two-Thirds:	6	7	8	8	9	10	10	11	12	12	13	14	14	15	16	16	17

For example, if a county legislative body has 14 members, ten of whom are present for a meeting, all ten of those would have to vote in the affirmative in order to pass a measure requiring a two-thirds vote; eight of the ten present would constitute a majority.

<u>Motions Requiring a Majority Vote</u>	<u>Motions requiring a Two/Thirds Majority</u>
Business Discussed at <i>the Previous Work Session and placed on the Agenda</i>	Business Not Discussed <i>at the previous Work Session and placed on the agenda</i>
Unfinished Business Discussed at Work Session or previous regular meeting if there was no intervening Work Session	<i>Amend Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure</i>
Scheduled Board Appointments	Private Acts <i>and other business requiring 2/3 majority vote by statute</i>
Motions from a Standing Internal Committee (see Rule16E.4)	

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 3 - ORDER OF BUSINESS

1. Call to order by Chairperson. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Chairperson Pro Tempore shall preside.
2. Prayer followed by the Pledge of Allegiance
3. Roll call
4. Reading and approval of the minutes
5. Committee Reports
6. Unfinished Business
7. Report from the County Executive
8. New Business
9. Agenda Items
10. Reports - County Officials
10. Comments from the Audience
11. Announcement and Statements
12. Adjournment

RULE 4 - GENERAL

4A. WHO MAY ADDRESS THE BOARD: It is a commissioner's right to address the Chairperson and the Board at any appropriate time after proper recognition by the Chairperson. It may be allowable for non-commission members to address the Board if there is no objection by the Board or if a majority of the membership votes to allow such participation. The Chairperson may set a limit on the time a non-commission member may be allowed to speak. The Bradley County Commission has set the following rules:

A non-commission member may address the Board following an affirmative vote by a majority of the commission. The time limit is five minutes. The non-member may be allowed more time following a majority vote of the Board granting more time.

4B. GAINING THE FLOOR: In all cases, the member who shall first rise and address the Chairperson shall be entitled to speak first; but when two or more members shall rise and address the Chairperson at the same time, the Chairperson shall name the member who shall speak first.

4C. SPEAKING: When any member is about to speak in debate, discussion or deliver any address on any matter whatsoever to the Board, the member shall rise and respectfully address the Chairperson and shall, after being recognized by the Chairperson proceed with the intended remarks, confining such remarks strictly to the question under debate and avoiding all personalities.

4D. CONSENT TO YIELD: While a member is speaking s/he is not to be interrupted, except for a question by another member. If the speaker declines to yield the floor for a question, then s/he shall not be interrupted, but shall yield to questions at the end of the presentation.

4E. POINTS OF ORDER: If any member, speaking or otherwise, transgresses the Rules of the Board, the Chairperson shall, or any member may, call to order, in which case the member so called to order shall immediately sit down. When the point of order has been decided by the Chairperson, the member having the floor can proceed, subject to the decision made.

4F. APPEAL ON RULING: Any member of the Board may appeal to the Board from the ruling of the Chairperson and a majority vote of the members present shall decide the appeal.

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 4 – GENERAL CONTINUED

4G. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: The phrase “old business” is to be avoided since it incorrectly suggests consideration of matters that have been previously and finally disposed of (see Robert’s Rules of Order, 10th Edition, p.346).

“Unfinished business” is the proper phrase and is defined as considering questions that have come over from the immediate preceding Work Session or regular meeting if there was no intervening Work Session as a result of the following:

1. The question that was pending when the previous meeting adjourned, if that meeting adjourned while a question other than a special order was pending.
2. Any questions that were unfinished business at the previous meeting but were not reached before it adjourned – taken in the order in which they were due to come up at that meeting.
3. Any questions which, by postponement or otherwise, were set as general orders for the previous meeting, or for a particular hour during that meeting, but were not reached before it adjourned – taken in the order in which the general orders were made.
4. Matters that were postponed to, or otherwise made general orders for the present meeting – taken in the order in which they were made.

4H. PREVIOUS NOTICE: Previous notice means announcement at the immediate previous Work Session or regular meeting if there was no intervening Work Session that the motion will be introduced. Motions that have the effect of changing or nullifying previous actions of the board require previous notice if to be adopted by a majority vote. Without previous notice, such motions require a two-thirds majority.

Previous notice can be oral or in writing and in either event must state the substance of the motion announced with sufficient particularity to be accurate and complete. Amendments, including substitute motions as amendments, to motions requiring previous notice will invalidate the notice if its effect amends the motion beyond the scope of the notice. Previous notice should be recorded in the minutes of the meeting in which it is announced.

RULE 5 - MOTIONS

5A. INTRODUCTION AND DEBATE: members may only make Motions. No motion shall be debated until the same is seconded and stated by the Chairperson.

5B. MOTIONS IN WRITING: When a motion is made and seconded, it shall be reduced to writing by the Clerk, and read by the Chairperson prior to any debate or vote.

5C. REQUIRING ROLL CALL: Motions shall be put to the Board for a roll call.

5D. AMENDMENTS TO A MOTION: Amendments require a second. Debate may follow an amended motion. No action shall be taken on the original motion until the amended motion has been voted upon.

5E. MOTIONS TO RESCIND OR AMEND MATTERS PREVIOUSLY DECIDED: Motions to rescind or amend matters previously decided require “previous notice” at the immediate preceding Work Session or regular meeting if there was no intervening Work Session and a majority vote. Without notice at the previous Work Session or regular meeting if there was no intervening Work Session, motions to rescind or amend matters previously decided require a two-thirds majority vote.

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 6 - RESOLUTIONS

6A. INTRODUCTION: Any proposed resolution may be introduced only by a member of the Board, and the Clerk or Chairperson shall not receive or file any resolution that is not reduced to writing and signed by at least two members of the Board.

6B. AUTHOR: A resolution may have as many signatures as there are members of the Board. However, the first two signatures on the resolution shall be deemed the authors for the purpose of debate.

6C. ROLL CALL VOTE: Resolutions shall be put to the Board for a roll call vote by the Clerk. Each member shall vote "yes" or "no" on its passage when the Clerk calls his/her name.

6D. CHANGING VOTE: Any member of the Board may change his/her vote before the Clerk announces the results of a roll call. It shall be the duty of the Clerk, at the end of each roll call, to inquire of those who passed or were absent when the roll was called if they desire to vote; also, if anyone who has voted wishes to change his/her vote. Then, the Clerk shall announce the results.

6E. SUCCESSFUL RESOLUTIONS: All successful resolutions shall be submitted to the Chairperson for his/her signature and attested by the signature of the Clerk. The resolution along with the vote of the members shall then be submitted to the County Executive, within five days of its passage, for his/her consideration.

RULE 7 - ELECTIONS AND APPOINTMENTS

7A. ELECTIONS AND NOMINATIONS FROM THE FLOOR: When the Chairperson is to receive nominations from the floor; a member may nominate only one person. The floor will be kept open until every member has had an opportunity to make nominations or until a motion has been made and seconded that nominations cease and a majority of those present so vote.

7B. APPOINTMENTS AND CONFIRMATIONS: All board appointments and confirmations made by the full county commission shall be selected from a pool of qualified applicants. These applicants shall be requested to submit a resume providing some background and qualifications as well as a statement as to why they would like to serve in this capacity. Each board opening shall be advertised by the county mayor's office and are due 5 days before the voting session where the appointment shall be made.

All board appointments made by individual districts require only a formal recommendation from the individual districts.

Confirmation of County Mayor appointments requires only a formal recommendation by the County Mayor.

7C. ELECTION OR CONFIRMATION: All ballots for election or confirmation shall be cast by voice vote as the Clerk calls each member's name. If the vote is on confirmation of an appointee each member will vote either "yes" or "no" on the confirmation. A majority of the membership of the full Board is required for election or confirmation.

7D. SECOND BALLOT: If no one is elected on a given ballot, the nominee receiving the smallest number of votes will be dropped and the vote will be taken again until a nominee is elected by the required majority of the membership.

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 8 - COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

There are many committees, boards and commissions in county government. The laws that apply can be very confusing. It is important to distinguish between internal committees of the county legislative body and committees or boards established or made optional by general law or private acts.

Internal committees of the county legislative body have no statutory requirements associated with them, they can be created or not according to the will of the county legislative body, they have no independent power to act, and may only make recommendations to the full county legislative body. Therefore, the number, title, composition, method of appointment and other matters pertaining to these committees are determined by resolution of the county legislative body, either directly or through the adopted rules of procedure. See e.g., Op. Tenn. Att'y Gen. U91-48 (March 25, 1991). These internal committees may vary greatly from county to county and may change easily within a county. They exist simply to provide advice to the full county legislative body.

Internal Committees

Internal committees are formed annually. Each commission member is asked to put in writing on which committee he/she would like to serve. The chairperson places the members on committees based upon these requests in conjunction with individual commission member expertise and experience. All standing committees shall be elected annually at the last voting meeting in September.

Resignation from an Internal Committee

Any member who wishes to resign from an internal committee should inform the commission chairperson in writing. The chairperson then appoints another commission member to fill the committee at his/her discretion.

External Committees

On the other hand, a county may have many boards and committees that have their basis in either general state law or private acts. These statutory boards and committees have to be dealt with according to the terms of the laws that created them or authorized their creation. These boards and committees may exercise the powers granted to them by law, but no other powers may be exercised. Some statutory boards or committees may exercise some limited powers directly and in other matters they may merely make recommendations, as would an internal study committee. This Handbook will discuss several of the most important statutory boards and committees authorized by general law according to the subject matter of the chapter. The nature and authority of any particular committee or board in a county must be examined individually on county-by-county and committee-by-committee basis.

RULE 9 - APPROPRIATION REQUESTS

REQUESTS FOR APPROPRIATION: Requests for appropriations in addition to those within the annual budget shall be submitted in the following manner:

9A. The request shall be submitted in writing to the appropriate committee of the Board and shall reflect the estimated cost, which shall be attached to the proposed resolution.

9B. All requests for appropriations falling in this area shall be summarized and submitted in writing to each member of the Board at least seven days prior to the regular or called meeting such request is to be submitted.

9C. The committee to which the request has been referred shall in open meeting of the Board, assume one of the following positions: (1) Adoption recommended (2) Rejection recommended or (3) Submitted to the Board without recommendation.

Bradley County Commission

Rules of Procedure

RULE 9 - APPROPRIATION REQUESTS CONTINUED

9D. The budget committee chairperson or a member designated by him/her shall advise the Board as to fund availability before a vote is taken on appropriations in any amount which are in addition to those of the annual budget.

9E. The resolution requesting such appropriations shall be voted upon by membership of the Board as provided by Rule 6 of these rules.

RULE 10 - SUSPENDING THE RULES

Any rule or rules may be suspended by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the members present.

RULE 11 - ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER

All matters not covered herein shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order Revised, as contained in the latest copyrighted edition.

RULE 12 - THE CHAIRPERSON

12A. ELECTION: Annually, at its first meeting in September, the Board shall elect a Chairperson and a Chairperson Pro Tempore. The Chairperson may be one of the memberships of the Board or the County Executive. If the Board elects as its Chairperson the County Executive, and s/he accepts the position, then the County Executive shall relinquish his/her veto power.

12B. VOTING BY THE CHAIRPERSON: The County Executive Chairperson may vote only in the case of a tie. A member chairperson may vote on all issues coming before the body, just as any other member.

12C. CALL TO ORDER: The Board shall be called to order by the Chairperson. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Chairperson Pro Tempore shall preside. In the absence of the Chairperson Pro Tempore, the Board shall be called to order by the County Clerk, and shall elect one of its members to preside over the deliberations.

12D. SPEAKING: Should the Chairperson desire to speak upon any subject either in the negative of the affirmative, s/he may do so, provided s/he vacates the chair. Whereupon the Chairperson Pro Tempore shall preside until the Board disposes of the matter under consideration. However, the Chairperson may answer questions, provide information, and give explanations from the chair, the Board not objecting.

12E. PRESERVE ORDER: The Chairperson shall preserve order and decorum. S/he may speak to points of order in preference to other members, rising from his/her seat for that purpose. The Chairperson shall decide questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Board of any member.

12F. ORDER OF RECOGNITION: Before a member is allowed to speak twice on the same subject the Chairperson shall inquire if there is another member who has not spoken on that subject and who wishes to speak.

12G. MOTIONS: Once a motion has been made and duly seconded, the Chairperson shall state the motion so that debate on the motion may begin.

Bradley County Commission

Rules of Procedure

RULE 12 - THE CHAIRPERSON CONTINUED

12H. CLARIFICATION: The Chairperson shall rise to state or put a question and shall clearly state the question before the Board before the vote on the question is taken. A member may ask for clarification of the question up until the result of the vote is announced.

12I. AGENDA: The Chairperson will forward to each member of the Board the tentative agenda of the next Board meeting not less than five days prior to meeting date.

12J. The Chairperson may forward to each member of the Board a consent agenda not less than five days prior to the meeting date. Items such as committee reports and committee appointments may be placed on the consent agenda at the discretion of the Chairperson. Items may be removed from the consent agenda on the request of any one member. Items not removed may be adopted by general consent without debate. Removed items may be taken up either immediately after the consent agenda or placed later on the agenda at the discretion of the Chairperson. (ADDED 7/20/2009)

RULE 13 - THE CLERK

13A. NOTICE: The Clerk shall notify each member of the Board of any special or called meetings not less than five days in advance thereof. Notification of regular meetings shall be within the discretion of the Clerk and the Chairperson.

13B. MINUTES: The Clerk shall reduce the minutes of each Board meeting to writing and attach a copy of each resolution considered and the vote thereon. The minutes shall be prepared within five days after said meeting and placed in a well-bound book for public inspection. A copy of the minutes of the last meeting shall be forwarded to each board member with the prepared agenda or meeting notice.

13C. RESOLUTIONS: A copy of all resolutions approved by the Board shall be submitted to the County Executive, within five days after such approval, for his/her consideration and signature.

13D. ROLL CALL: In all instances involving authorization to expend public funds, the Clerk shall call the roll for "yes" and "no" votes. In all instances where the roll is called for any vote, the Clerk shall make such roll call and the vote of each member a part of the record of the meeting and include it in the official minutes.

13E. CHANGE OF VOTE: It shall be the duty of the Clerk, at the end of each roll call, to inquire of those who passed or were absent when the roll was called if they desire to vote; also, if any member who has voted wishes to change his vote. Subsequently, the Clerk shall announce the results.

RULE 14 - SHERIFF

The Sheriff or a designated deputy shall attend each session of the Board. That officer shall preserve order and carry out orders of the presiding officer of the Board. The attending officer shall be paid for these services, unless such officer is performing this duty during regular working hours, paid by the county, and is not working overtime.

RULE 15 - COUNTY ATTORNEY

The County Attorney shall, as legal consultant, attend all meetings of the Board. It shall be the duty of the County Attorney to voice his/her negative opinion when, in his/her opinion, the Board is in the process of taking action outside of its jurisdiction, or in any manner proceeding illegally, and to give his/her legal opinion on any subject where such guidance is requested by the Chairperson.

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 16 – COMMITTEES

16A. All committees, standing and temporary, shall meet and elect from its membership a Chairperson. The election of a Secretary shall be optional in the absence of a specific mandate of the Board.

16B. Standing committee chairpersons shall report to and confer with the Chairperson on all pertinent matters to be presented at the next meeting of the Board.

16C. All committee chairpersons shall contact the County Attorney on matters appearing to warrant legal evaluation prior to presentation to the Board.

16D. Should questions arise as to jurisdiction of any committee it shall be referred to the Chairperson and/or to the County Attorney for determination, subject to an appeal to the Board at its next regular meeting.

16E. The following procedure shall be followed pertinent to committee reports and related action:

1. The committee chairperson or a member designated by him/her shall make the presentation in an open meeting of the Board.

2. Upon completion of a report the speaker shall yield to questions.

3. There shall be a vote on the proposition when discussion is complete and when there is a call for the question by the Board.

4. The chairperson of each committee is required to submit minutes to the board following each committee meeting. These minutes should be available before the next voting meeting for review by the entire board. Minutes should be taken on the standard form included at the back of this booklet. Any committee recommendation that is not covered in the committee minutes shall be treated as new business and will require two-thirds majority for passage.

16F. If for any reason the chairperson of a committee fails or refuses to call a meeting, the Chairperson of the Board, or a majority of the committee membership may do so.

RULE 17 - CONFLICT WITH LAW

In the event any of the foregoing rules are determined to be in conflict with statutory provisions, then that part in conflict shall be null and void.

RULE 18 – VACANCIES IN COUNTY OFFICES

Vacancies in county offices are to be filled by the county legislative body, and any person so appointed serves until a successor is elected at the next election after the vacancy. The Tennessee Supreme Court has determined that the term "next election" means the next general election or other countywide election in the county. McPherson v. Everett, 594 S.W.2d 677 (Tenn. 1980).

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 19 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest exists if a county officer or employee is required to supervise or vote on a contract in which he or she has some kind of investment or concern. Most of the time a conflict of interest involves a financial relationship, but the interest may also be one of supervisory control: is the official in the position of supervising himself or herself? Under general state law a "direct" conflict of interest is prohibited, while an "indirect" conflict may be allowed if it is disclosed. The statutory definitions of these terms read as follows:

"Directly interested means any contract with the official personally or with any business in which the official is the sole proprietor, a partner, or the person having the controlling interest. "Controlling interest" includes the individual with the ownership or control of the largest number of outstanding shares owned by any single individual or corporation.

"Indirectly interested," means any contract in which the officer is interested but not directly so
T.C.A. § 12-4-101.

In other words, a direct interest exists any time the county enters into an agreement with a county official personally, or with any business in which the official is a sole proprietor, a partner, or the person owning the largest number of corporate shares. Basically, an indirect interest is anything else: it exists in a contract which could result in some type of benefit for a county official, but which does not meet the definition for a direct interest.

The general rule is that a direct conflict is prohibited, while an indirect conflict is permitted if it is publicly disclosed; after disclosure the official is not required to abstain from voting on the matter, but may do so. T.C.A. § 12-4-101. Although 1998 Public Chapter 774 amending the conflict of interest law appeared to reverse the rule that a person not voting because of a conflict of interest would not be counted in determining a majority on the county commission, this 1998 act did not amend T.C.A. § 5-5-102 which continues to specifically state that any member of county legislative body who abstains for cause on any issue coming to a vote before the body shall not be counted for the purpose of determining a majority vote.

A special rule exists in the case of a county commissioner who is also an employee of the county. A conflict of interest can come up in this situation any time the county commission votes on appropriations or budgets. A statutory exception allows a member of the county legislative body to vote on these matters if the county employed that member before becoming a member of the county commission. But, immediately before the vote the commissioner must read the following disclaimer that is set out in the Tennessee Code:

Because I am an employee of (name of governmental unit), I have a conflict of interest in the proposal about to be voted. However, I declare that my argument and my vote answer only to my conscience and to my obligation to my constituents and the citizens this body represents. T.C.A. § 12-4-101.

The vote of any member who is required to make this disclosure and does not do so is void if it is challenged in a timely manner (during the same meeting at which the vote was cast and prior to the transaction of any further business). T.C.A. § 12-4-101. A legislative body member who is also a county employee and whose employment began on or after the date on which the member was initially selected as a member of the governing body may not vote on matters in which the member has a conflict of interest. T.C.A. § 12-4-101.

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

RULE 20 - OPEN MEETINGS ACT ("SUNSHINE LAW")

In enacting the Tennessee Open Meetings Act, the General Assembly declared it to be "the public policy of the state that the formation of public policy and decisions is public business and shall not be conducted in secret." T.C.A. § 8-44-101. As recognized by the Tennessee Court of Appeals, "Our Open Meetings Law is perhaps one of the most comprehensive and extensive in the nation. There are no exceptions except those situations which may be in conflict with the constitution." *Lakeway Publishers, Inc. v. Civil Service Board*, 1994 WL 315919 (Tenn. Ct. App.). Ironically, the General Assembly itself is not subject to this law. See *Mayhew v. Wilder*, 46 S.W.3d 760 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2001).

Penalties and Remedies for Non-Compliance

Any action taken at a meeting in violation of the Sunshine Law is void. T.C.A. § 8-44-105. While this provision does not forever bar a public body from subsequently ratifying an action taken in violation of the act, it does not allow a public body to ratify an action in a subsequent meeting by perfunctory affirmation of its earlier action. In order to remedy a violation of the Sunshine Law, however, the ultimate decision must be made at a meeting that satisfies the Sunshine Law and there must be new and substantial reconsideration of the issues involved. *Neese v. Paris Special School District*, 813 S.W.2d 432 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1990). Even if a subsequent meeting is held in compliance with the Sunshine Law, the ratification and confirmation of an action will not remedy a prior violation of the Sunshine Law if it is merely a "perfunctory rubber stamp." *Souder v. Health Partners, Inc.*, 997 S.W.2d 140 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1998).

Under the act, any citizen may bring an action in circuit court, chancery court, or any court of equity to enforce the Sunshine Law. These courts are given broad authority to issue injunctions, impose penalties, and otherwise enforce the purposes of the act. T.C.A. § 8-44-106.

Requirements of the Act

The Open Meetings Act, commonly referred to as the "Sunshine Law," is found in T.C.A. § 8-44-101 et seq. The requirements of this law are as follows:

1. All meetings of any governing body are declared to be public meetings and must be open to the public at all times. T.C.A. § 8-44-102.
2. Adequate public notice of all regular and special meetings must be given. T.C.A. § 8-44-103.
3. The minutes of the meetings must be recorded and open to public inspection, and at a minimum must contain a record of the persons present, all motions, proposals and resolutions offered, the results of any votes taken, and a record of individual votes in the event of a roll call. T.C.A. § 8-44-104(a).
4. All votes must be by public vote, public ballot, or public roll call; secret votes are prohibited. T.C.A. § 8-44-104(b).

The statute declares that a meeting occurs whenever a public body convenes for one of two purposes: (1) to make a decision or (2) to deliberate toward a decision. T.C.A. § 8-44-102(b)(2). Therefore, it is not necessary that a decision be reached before the Sunshine Law applies. The statute does state that a chance meeting between two or more members of a public body should not be considered a public meeting subject to the terms of the act. However, the same statute goes on to warn that chance meetings shall not be used to deliberate public business in circumvention of the spirit of the act. T.C.A. § 8-44-102. Courts have held that informal assemblages of a governing body at which public business is discussed and deliberated, including informal telephone discussions between members of a governing body, fall under the Sunshine Law. See, e.g., *Littleton*

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

v. City of Kingston, 1990 WL 198240 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1990). Because of the broad interpretation with which both the courts and the legislature have applied this act, the attorney general's office offers the following advice:

RULE 20 - OPEN MEETINGS ACT ("SUNSHINE LAW") CONTINUED

"Two or more members of a governing body should not deliberate toward a decision or make a decision on public business without complying with the Open Meetings Act." Op. Tenn. Atty. Gen. 88-169 (Sept. 19, 1988).

RULE 21 – DUTIES OF COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY

Under the Tennessee Constitution, counties are an extension of the state and are deemed political subdivisions of the state created in the exercise of its sovereign power to carry out the policy of the state. Counties, as the creation of the state, are subject to control by Tennessee's legislature, known as the General Assembly. Although the General Assembly has very broad powers to deal with county government, the state's constitution places some limitation on its discretion regarding counties.

A long line of Tennessee Supreme Court case law has held that counties have no authority except that expressly given them by statute or necessarily implied from it. *Bayless v. Knox County*, 286 S.W.2d 579 (Tenn. 1955). Although statutes are the primary source of county authority, the Tennessee Constitution does contain a few provisions specifically addressed to county government.

Nature of the Body. The county legislative body may exercise the powers of a legislative nature granted to it by the General Assembly in public acts (laws of general application or local option application which may be found in codified form in the *Tennessee Code Annotated*) or in private acts that apply to a particular county (that do not conflict with the general law). The General Assembly has given the county legislative body a considerable array of powers, including the power to levy property taxes without limitation regarding rates, the power to expend funds for any lawful purpose, zoning powers for the unincorporated areas of the county and some regulatory powers, yet the General Assembly has not seen fit to grant to the county legislative body all of the powers that have been granted to Tennessee's incorporated municipalities (cities and towns). Therefore, counties must always look for the source of authority for any action taken, as counties have no authority to act outside the scope of the powers granted by the General Assembly.

Budgeting and Levying Taxes. The county legislative body assembled in session is authorized to act for the county. T.C.A. § 5-1-103. All funds to be used in the operation of the county must be appropriated for that use by the county legislative body, which can appropriate money only for expenditures sanctioned by state law. T.C.A. § 5-9-401. The county legislative body may appropriate funds for any lawful purpose. T.C.A. § 5-5-118 incorporating certain municipal powers in T.C.A. § 6-2-201. It is the duty of the county legislative body to adopt a budget and to appropriate funds for the ensuing fiscal year for all county departments and agencies. T.C.A. § 5-9-404. The county executive who does not chair the county legislative body may veto the entire county budget, but may not veto portions of it. T.C.A. § 5-6-107.

The budget adopted by the county legislative body must be balanced, meaning that estimated revenues must at least equal the amounts appropriated plus any reserves required by state law. The county legislative body must levy taxes sufficient to meet appropriations (with other revenues such as state shared taxes included in the determination) and to meet all debt retirement and interest obligations. T.C.A. § 9-11-115. The county budget must meet all state law requirements. The failure to meet these requirements can cause the loss or withholding of state shared funds, such as education funds. Besides the requirements of balance and meeting debt obligations, the budget must also meet several other requirements such as the maintenance of effort requirement for education funding, the five-year average requirement for highway funding, the requirement not to lower the funds available to the sheriff for personnel costs without the consent of the sheriff, the mandatory minimum salaries of county officials, any court decrees providing the number and salaries of deputies and

Bradley County Commission Rules of Procedure

assistants of county officials, the requirement to have adequate correctional facilities (alone or in conjunction with one or more other counties) and any of the other mandates that state law places on the county.

RULE 21 – DUTIES OF COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY CONTINUED

The county property tax is the only significant source of revenue that the county legislative body can levy without limitation as to rate and without being subject to referendum (directly or if an adequate petition is filed) or requiring the passage of a private act.

Private Act Approvals. Private acts of the General Assembly are a source of authority for counties in areas not covered by the general law. Examples of private acts include those levying hotel/motel taxes and development taxes (there is no general law authority for counties to levy these particular taxes). Under Article XI, Section 9 of the Tennessee Constitution, private acts are not effective until approved locally by the county (or city) to which they apply by the terms of the private act. Local approval of a private act for a particular county can occur by a majority vote in a referendum by the qualified voters of the county who vote in the referendum, or by a two-thirds majority vote of the county legislative body. The method of local approval must be specified in the private act. Sometimes private acts provide that they must be approved by a certain date or they will not become effective. However, if there is not a deadline for local approval in the private act, general law requires that approval take place by December 1 in the year that the private act passed the General Assembly. The approval or rejection of a private act that requires approval by two-thirds vote of the county legislative body is certified by the chair of the county legislative body to the secretary of state of Tennessee.

The county legislative body may request that members of the General Assembly representing the people of the county introduce and work for the passage of a particular private act. Such a resolution has no legal effect, but members of the General Assembly prefer to see such a resolution, particularly if passed by the number of votes necessary to approve the private act if passed, before they introduce the private act bill. However, members of the General Assembly are under no legal obligation to introduce the requested private act bill. Further, although this rarely occurs, they may introduce and work for the passage of a private act bill that provides for referendum approval against the wishes of the county legislative body.

Other Duties. The county legislative body has duties with respect to the acceptance of county roads, the annual updating and approval of the county road list, and the closing of roads not deemed worthy of inclusion on the county road list. The county legislative body may adopt optional general laws in the areas of financial management, budgeting and purchasing. The county legislative body has important duties with respect to approval of the issuance of county debt instruments such as bonds or notes. The county legislative body has a duty to provide courthouse space for the state courts and jail facilities (alone or in conjunction with one or more counties) as well as for certain county officials. The county legislative body may adopt comprehensive zoning for the area of the county outside the corporate limits of the municipalities. The county legislative body has a duty to have a countywide personnel policy (although several offices may have their own policy separate from the general county policy). The county legislative body may provide medical and life insurance benefits to county employees and county officials through insurance or self-insurance. The county legislative body has the authority to regulate dogs, cats and stray animals. The county legislative body in those counties without zoning, may, by two-thirds vote of the county legislative body, adopt regulations to prevent public nuisances. Also, the county legislative body may determine whether or not to adopt a distance rule regarding the sale of beer at retail. The county legislative body must determine how to deal with its liability risks, either through insurance or self-insurance, or joint self-insurance through an insurance pool. Many of the records of the county are very valuable and the county legislative body has an important role with the county public records commission and other county officials to preserve records of permanent value and to manage the county's records efficiently.

The county legislative body has a role in either electing or approving the appointment of many county officials and department heads. Also, the county legislative body may decide to limit the duties of constables to process serving and take away law enforcement powers, or to abolish the office at the end of the terms of the incumbent constables.